# **DEPRESSION**

Light at the End of the Tunnel

**JOAN ZAWATZKY** 

## **DEPRESSION**

Light at the End of the Tunnel

JOAN ZAWATZKY

#### Copyright © Joan Zawatzky 2013

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical including photocopying, recording or by any information storage and retrieval system, without prior permission in writing from the author.

#### Disclaimer

The characters in this book are fictional and do not refer to real people living or dead. Every effort has been made to make this book as complete and as accurate as possible. This text should be used only as a general guide and not as the ultimate source of information. The ideas, suggestions and strategies described in this book are intended to provide helpful information and are not a replacement for the care and supervision of a qualified health professional. All problems and concerns regarding your health require the supervision of a qualified medical doctor. If you have any pre-existing medical disorders consult your doctor before following any of the suggestions, techniques or strategies in this book. The author and publisher are not responsible for any negative consequences that result from reading this book.

#### Please note

In this book the masculine pronoun "he" is generally used when referring to the client or therapist. This is for convenience and does not reflect a preference for either sex.

Revised edition: Veritax 2013 Melbourne Victoria Australia, 2013 www.placeofbooks.com

First published by Hybrid Publishers, 2002 There's a Light at the End of the Tunnel Melbourne, Victoria, Australia.

Typeset and cover design by BookPOD Cover image iStockphoto

ISBN: 978-0-9873302-3-9 (pbk) eISBN: 978-0-9873302-4-6 (ebook)

A Catalogue-in-Publication is available from the National Library of Australia.



#### A NOTE FROM THE AUTHOR

#### A revised edition

Since writing my first book on depression, *There's a Light at the End of the Tunnel* in 2002, the desperation I have seen in depressed people is even more pronounced. Doctors are writing more prescriptions for antidepressants and there is talk of a depression epidemic.

I have revised this book and added to its content to respond to these needs by including practical new strategies and information about up to date techniques to overcome depression. More healing stories and case histories have been added to inspire your fight to overcome depression.

There is no such thing as one approach suited for each person or that each person should be limited to only one approach. This book provides you with several of the most successful ways of treating depression, so that if one method doesn't suit you or help to beat your depression, another will. My hope is that you will find relief from your depression, as you work through this special mix of healing tales and strategies.

#### A resource for family friends and caregivers

With the increase of teenagers and even children suffering from depression, I have added chapters providing you with guidelines to help you with issues such as bullying at school, cyber bullying, drug and alcohol abuse, self-harm and suicide. Caring for an aged parent and the difficulties involved with living with a depressed partner have also been included.

This book will provide you with a solid understanding of the causes and symptoms of depression, strategies to fight it and the practical and emotional support necessary to help your depressed loved ones.

#### **Contents**

A Note From The Author	v
Introduction	1
DADE 1 LINDEDOTANDING THE DAGGO	
PART 1: UNDERSTANDING THE BASICS	
CHAPTER 1: UNDERSTANDING DEPRESSION	
Sadness and depression are often confused	5
The signs of depression	
TYPES OF DEPRESSION	
Major (Severe) depression	
Mild depression (dysthymia)	
Endogenous and reactive depression	11
A daily mood chart	
The line between anxiety and depression	13
CHAPTER 2; BIPOLAR DISORDER (MANIC DEPRESSION)	15
Bipolar 1 disorder	
Bipolar 2 disorder	
Cyclothymic disorder	
Mood chart for all bipolar disorders	
The link between creativity and mood disorder	
CHAPTER 2 OTHER CORNER OF DEPRESSION	2.5
CHAPTER 3: OTHER FORMS OF DEPRESSION	
Adjustment Disorder	
Atypical depression	
Substance-induced depression	28
CHAPTER 4:PHYSIOLOGICAL CAUSES OF DEPRESSION	31
Hereditary causes	31
Brain chemistry and depression	
Hormones	32
Medical conditions	
Sleep-wake rhythms	34
Seasonal changes	
The mind-body connection	
How depression affects the immune system	35
CHAPTER 5: PSYCHOLOGICAL CAUSES OF DEPRESSION	37
Self esteem.	
Control, power and responsibility	38

Being in touch physically and emotionally.  Connecting with others.  Supportive relationships.  40 Flexibility.  Expectations.  40 HOW WE DEVELOP OUR VIEW ABOUT OURSELVES.  41 Are men or women more vulnerable to depression?  42 Is change possible?.  43 Is change possible?.  44  CHAPTER 6: CHANGES IN WOMEN THAT MAY TRIGGER DEPRESSION.  45 Biological and hormonal causes of depression in women.  45 Premenstrual syndrome (PMS).  46 Pregnancy.  47 Pregnancy.  47 Pregnancy.  48 Pregnancy.  49 Pregnancy.  40 Postpartum (postnatal, perinatal) depression.  40 The forms of postpartum (postnatal depression, perinatal) depression.  50 Postpartum psychosis.  51 Menopause.  52 CHAPTER 7: CHANGES IN MEN THAT MAY TRIGGER DEPRESSION.  55 The role of stress.  56 Fathers and depression.  57 Mid-life changes in males (Mid-life crisis).  57 Is there a male menopause?  59 When men retire.  50  PART 2: THE INNER ROUTE  CHAPTER 8: THE INNER ROUTE  CHAPTER 8: THE INNER ROUTE  CHAPTER 8: THE INNER ROUTE  The healing power of stories  PART 2: THE INNER ROUTE  CHAPTER 9: HOW THINKING AFFECTS YOUR DEPRESSION.  55 The foundation of destructive thoughts  57 The foundation of destructive thoughts  58 How to change your thinking with the help of this book.  75 CHAPTER 9: HOW THINKING AFFECTS YOUR DEPRESSION.  75 The foundation of destructive thoughts  57 How to change your thinking with the help of this book.  75 COGNITURE BEHAVIOURAL THERAPY (CBT).  76 IDENTIFYING DESTRUCTIVE THOUGHTS.  77 Grouping destructive automatic thoughts  81 CHAPTER 10: IDENTIFYING UNREASONABLE BELIEFS.  87	Avoidance	20
Connecting with others		
Supportive relationships         40           Flexibility         40           Expectations         40           HOW WE DEVELOP OUR VIEW ABOUT OURSELVES         42           Are men or women more vulnerable to depression?         43           Is change possible?         44           CHAPTER 6: CHANGES IN WOMEN THAT MAY TRIGGER DEPRESSION         45           Biological and hormonal causes of depression in women         45           Premenstrual syndrome (PMS)         45           Pregnancy         46           Postpartum (postnatal, perinatal) depression         46           Postpartum psychosis.         52           Menopause         52           CHAPTER 7: CHANGES IN MEN THAT MAY TRIGGER DEPRESSION         55           The role of stress         56           Fathers and depression         57           Horole of stress         56           Fathers and depression         57           Is there a male menopause?         59           When men retire         59           PART 2: THE INNER ROUTE         63           The role of stories in the past         63           Stories that change the way you think and feel         64           The unconscious         65 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td></t<>		
Flexibility	Connecting with others	39
Expectations.	Supportive relationships	40
HOW WE DEVELOP OUR VIEW ABOUT OURSELVES		
Are men or women more vulnerable to depression?		
Schange possible?		
CHAPTER 6: CHANGES IN WOMEN THAT MAY TRIGGER DEPRESSION       45         Biological and hormonal causes of depression in women       45         Premenstrual syndrome (PMS)       45         Pregnancy       46         Postpartum (postnatal, perinatal) depression       46         Postpartum psychosis       50         Postpartum psychosis       52         Menopause       52         CHAPTER 7: CHANGES IN MEN THAT MAY TRIGGER DEPRESSION       55         The role of stress       56         Fathers and depression       57         Mid-life changes in males (Mid-life crisis)       57         Is there a male menopause?       59         When men retire       59         PART 2: THE INNER ROUTE       63         The healing power of stories       63         The role of stories in the past       63         Stories that change the way you think and feel       64         The unconscious       65         Dreams       65         Suggestions for reading the stories       66         PART 3: THE CONSTRUCTIVE ROUTE TO THINKING, FEELING AND ACTING       75         CHAPTER 9: HOW THINKING AFECTS YOUR DEPRESSION       75         How to change your thinking with the help of this book       75		
Biological and hormonal causes of depression in women       45         Premenstrual syndrome (PMS)       45         Pregnancy       46         Postpartum (postnatal, perinatal) depression       46         He forms of postpartum (postnatal depression, perinatal) depression       50         Postpartum psychosis       52         Menopause       52         CHAPTER 7: CHANGES IN MEN THAT MAY TRIGGER DEPRESSION       55         The role of stress       56         Fathers and depression       57         Mid-life changes in males (Mid-life crisis)       55         Is there a male menopause?       59         When men retire       59         When men retire       59         When in the past       63         Stories that change the way you think and feel       63         The role of stories in the past       63         Stories that change the way you think and feel       64         The unconscious       65         Dreams       65         Suggestions for reading the stories       65         PART 3: THE CONSTRUCTIVE ROUTE TO THINKING, FEELING AND ACTING       75         CHAPTER 9: HOW THINKING AFFECTS YOUR DEPRESSION       75         The foundation of destructive thoughts       75	Is change possible?	44
Biological and hormonal causes of depression in women       45         Premenstrual syndrome (PMS)       45         Pregnancy       46         Postpartum (postnatal, perinatal) depression       46         He forms of postpartum (postnatal depression, perinatal) depression       50         Postpartum psychosis       52         Menopause       52         CHAPTER 7: CHANGES IN MEN THAT MAY TRIGGER DEPRESSION       55         The role of stress       56         Fathers and depression       57         Mid-life changes in males (Mid-life crisis)       55         Is there a male menopause?       59         When men retire       59         When men retire       59         When in the past       63         Stories that change the way you think and feel       63         The role of stories in the past       63         Stories that change the way you think and feel       64         The unconscious       65         Dreams       65         Suggestions for reading the stories       65         PART 3: THE CONSTRUCTIVE ROUTE TO THINKING, FEELING AND ACTING       75         CHAPTER 9: HOW THINKING AFFECTS YOUR DEPRESSION       75         The foundation of destructive thoughts       75	CHAPTER / CHANCECININOMENTHAT MAY TRICCER DEPRECTION	4.5
Premenstrual syndrome (PMS)         45           Pregnancy.         46           Postpartum (postnatal, perinatal) depression         50           The forms of postpartum (postnatal depression, perinatal) depression         50           Postpartum psychosis.         52           Menopause         52           CHAPTER 7: CHANGES IN MEN THAT MAY TRIGGER DEPRESSION         55           The role of stress         56           Fathers and depression         57           Mid-life changes in males (Mid-life crisis)         57           Is there a male menopause?         59           When men retire         59           PART 2: THE INNER ROUTE         63           The healing power of stories         63           The role of stories in the past         63           Stories that change the way you think and feel         64           The unconscious         65           Dreams         65           Suggestions for reading the stories         66           PART 3: THE CONSTRUCTIVE ROUTE TO THINKING, FEELING AND ACTING         75           CHAPTER 9: HOW THINKING AFFECTS YOUR DEPRESSION         75           The foundation of destructive thoughts         75           How to change your thinking with the help of this book         75		
Pregnancy         46           Postpartum (postnatal, perinatal) depression         48           The forms of postpartum (postnatal depression, perinatal) depression         50           Postpartum psychosis         52           Menopause         52           CHAPTER 7: CHANGES IN MEN THAT MAY TRIGGER DEPRESSION.         55           The role of stress         56           Fathers and depression         57           Mid-life changes in males (Mid-life crisis)         57           Is there a male menopause?         59           When men retire         59           PART 2: THE INNER ROUTE           CHAPTER 8: THE INNER ROUTE         63           The role of stories in the past         63           Stories that change the way you think and feel         64           The unconscious         55           Dreams         65           Suggestions for reading the stories         65           PART 3: THE CONSTRUCTIVE ROUTE TO THINKING, FEELING AND ACTING         75           CHAPTER 9: HOW THINKING AFFECTS YOUR DEPRESSION         75           The foundation of destructive thoughts         75           How to change your thinking with the help of this book         75           COGNITIVE BEHAVIOURAL THERAPY (CBT)         76		
Postpartum (postnatal, perinatal) depression		
The forms of postpartum (postnatal depression, perinatal) depression	Pregnancy	46
Postpartum psychosis	Postpartum (postnatal, perinatal) depression	48
Menopause		
CHAPTER 7: CHANGES IN MEN THAT MAY TRIGGER DEPRESSION. 55 The role of stress . 56 Fathers and depression . 57 Mid-life changes in males (Mid-life crisis) . 57 Is there a male menopause? 59 When men retire . 59  PART 2: THE INNER ROUTE  CHAPTER 8: THE INNER ROUTE . 63 The role of stories in the past . 63 Stories that change the way you think and feel . 64 The unconscious . 65 Dreams . 65 Suggestions for reading the stories . 66  PART 3: THE CONSTRUCTIVE ROUTE TO THINKING, FEELING AND ACTING  CHAPTER 9: HOW THINKING AFFECTS YOUR DEPRESSION . 75 The foundation of destructive thoughts . 75 How to change your thinking with the help of this book . 75 COGNITIVE BEHAVIOURAL THERAPY (CBT) . 76 GROUPING DESTRUCTIVE THOUGHTS . 77 Grouping destructive automatic thoughts . 81 CHAPTER 10: IDENTIFYING UNREASONABLE BELIEFS . 87		
The role of stress	Menopause	52
The role of stress	CHARTER 7. CHANCES IN MEN THAT MAY TRICCER DERRESSION	<i>E E</i>
Fathers and depression		
Mid-life changes in males (Mid-life crisis) 57 Is there a male menopause? 58 When men retire 59  PART 2: THE INNER ROUTE 63 The healing power of stories 63 The role of stories in the past 63 Stories that change the way you think and feel 64 The unconscious 65 Dreams 65 Suggestions for reading the stories 65 Suggestions for reading the stories 66  PART 3: THE CONSTRUCTIVE ROUTE TO THINKING, FEELING AND ACTING 75 The foundation of destructive thoughts 75 How to change your thinking with the help of this book 75 COGNITIVE BEHAVIOURAL THERAPY (CBT) 76 Grouping destructive automatic thoughts 81 CHAPTER 10: IDENTIFYING UNREASONABLE BELIEFS 87		
Is there a male menopause?		
PART 2: THE INNER ROUTE  CHAPTER 8: THE INNER ROUTE  CHAPTER 8: THE INNER ROUTE  63 The healing power of stories  63 The role of stories in the past  63 Stories that change the way you think and feel  64 The unconscious  65 Dreams  65 Suggestions for reading the stories  66  PART 3: THE CONSTRUCTIVE ROUTE TO  THINKING, FEELING AND ACTING  CHAPTER 9: HOW THINKING AFFECTS YOUR DEPRESSION  75 The foundation of destructive thoughts  75 How to change your thinking with the help of this book  75 COGNITIVE BEHAVIOURAL THERAPY (CBT)  76 IDENTIFYING DESTRUCTIVE THOUGHTS  77 Grouping destructive automatic thoughts  81 CHAPTER 10: IDENTIFYING UNREASONABLE BELIEFS  87	Indian consists in maies (Mid-ine crisis)	57
PART 2: THE INNER ROUTE  CHAPTER 8: THE INNER ROUTE		
CHAPTER 8: THE INNER ROUTE	when men retire	39
The healing power of stories	PART 2: THE INNER ROUTE	
The healing power of stories		
The role of stories in the past		
Stories that change the way you think and feel	The healing power of stories	63
The unconscious	The role of stories in the past	63
Dreams	Stories that change the way you think and feel	64
PART 3: THE CONSTRUCTIVE ROUTE TO THINKING, FEELING AND ACTING  CHAPTER 9: HOW THINKING AFFECTS YOUR DEPRESSION		
PART 3: THE CONSTRUCTIVE ROUTE TO THINKING, FEELING AND ACTING  CHAPTER 9: HOW THINKING AFFECTS YOUR DEPRESSION		
THINKING, FEELING AND ACTING  CHAPTER 9: HOW THINKING AFFECTS YOUR DEPRESSION	Suggestions for reading the stories	66
THINKING, FEELING AND ACTING  CHAPTER 9: HOW THINKING AFFECTS YOUR DEPRESSION	DADT 2. THE CONCEDITORING DOLLTE TO	
CHAPTER 9: HOW THINKING AFFECTS YOUR DEPRESSION		
The foundation of destructive thoughts	THINKING, FEELING AND ACTING	
The foundation of destructive thoughts	CHARTED O. HOW THINKING AFFECTS VOLD DEDDESSION	75
How to change your thinking with the help of this book		
COGNITIVE BEHAVIOURAL THERAPY (CBT)		
IDENTIFYING DESTRUCTIVE THOUGHTS	COCNITIVE BEHAVIOURAL THERADY (CPT)	13 76
Grouping destructive automatic thoughts		
CHAPTER 10: IDENTIFYING UNREASONABLE BELIEFS87		
	Grouping destructive automatic moughts	81
	CHAPTER 10: IDENTIFYING LINREASONARIE BELIEFS	87
	COMMONLY HELD UNREASONABLE BELIEFS	

Assess your destructive thinking style	91
CHAPTER 11: MAKING CHANGES TO DESTRUCTIVE THOUGHTS Methods of altering your thoughts	
OHADED 12 OEDDNOETHENING MODINATION	100
CHAPTER 12: STRENGTHENING MOTIVATION	
What can you do about apathy, lethargy and procrastination?	109
How to motivate a depressed loved one	111
CHAPTER 13: SETTING GOALS	115
Plan your activities	115
A planning table	117
Difficulties in achieving your goal	
CHAPTER 14: DEVELOPING SELF-ESTEEM, BEING AWARE OF	
PERFECTIONISM, THE NEED TO SEEK APPROVAL AND SELF-BLAME.	123
What causes low self-esteem?	124
PERFECTIONISM AND LOW SELF-ESTEEM	125
THE NEED TO SEEK APPROVAL	
SELF-BLAME, SHAME AND GUILT	
obbi birini, orinini ind delli	120
CHAPTER 15: MOVING FROM ANGER TO ASSERTIVENESS	135
Managing anger	
Practical methods of controlling anger	
Moving away from anger to assertiveness	140
PART 4: MINDFULNESS-BASED COGNITIVE THERAPY (M	ВСТ)
CHAPTER 16: THE ESSENCE OF MINDFULNESS-BASED COGNITIVE	
	1.47
THERAPY (MBCT)	
Comparing mindrulness-based cognitive therapy (MBC1) with cognitive behavioural the (CBT)	
The key principles of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy:	
CHAPTER 17: MINDFULNESS DEEP BREATHING AND MEDITATION	1.57
MINDFULNESS DEEP BREATHING	
Hyperventilation or over breathing	
MINDFULNESS MEDITATION	
The concept of working mindfully	100
Starting to meditate mindfully	160
Thought labelling	161
Moving on to deeper meditation	
Daily practice	
The advantages of simply observing	166
Unleashing emotions through mindfulness training	167
CHAPTER 18: MINDFULNESS AS PART OF DAILY LIFE	171

Using mindfulness in your daily life	171
CHAPTER 10 DELATING TO OTHER CHITH MINDELL COMPACTION	177
CHAPTER 19: RELATING TO OTHERS WITH MINDFUL COMPASSION	
Depression can be cruel	
Compassion	
Self-compassion	177
PART 5: HARMONY AND BALANCE	
CHAPTER 20: FINDING STRENGTH WITHIN	105
Intuition	
Intuition	
Tune into your intuition	
Dreams and intuition	
When to consult a professional therapist	100
when to consult a professional therapist	109
CHAPTER 21: DEVELOPING HARMONY AND BALANCE	195
Encouraging your energy balance	
Tai Chi	
Yoga	195
Acupuncture	
Massage	
Reiki	
Kinesiology	
Emotional Freedom Technique (EFT)	197
Colour Therapy	
CHAPTER 22: KEEPING YOUR BODY IN TUNE	203
NUTRITION	
Diet fads	
Obesity and depression	
The hidden dangers of sugars and carbohydrates	204
Protein	
Oils	
Antioxidants	
Food allergies	
EXERCISE	
If you don't enjoy exercise	
Blocks to exercising	206
Another approach	
Check with your doctor	
Positive physical effects of exercise	
An exercise goal	207
CHAPTER 23: IMPROVING SLEEP	211
The two distinct phases of sleep necessary for rest:	
Common sleep difficulties	
How much sleep is enough?	
Sleep deprivation	

Some causes of insomnia	
A sleep journal	
Practice mindful relaxation before sleep	215
PART 6: TREATMENT FOR DEPRESSION	
CHAPTER 24: TRADITIONAL TREATMENT FOR DEPRESSION	221
When to seek help	221
Different therapists who treat depression	223
Alternative practitioners	224
MEDICAL TREATMENT	
Antidepressant medications	225
Types of antidepressants	
Electroconvulsive therapy (ECT)	
Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation	
MEDICAL TREATMENT FOR BIPOLAR DISORDER (MANIC DEPRESSION)	
Medication	231
CHAPTER 25: PSYCHOLOGICAL THERAPIES FOR DEPRESSION	233
How to choose a counsellor	233
Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT)	
Mindfulness-based Cognitive Therapy (MBCT)	234
Psychoanalysis	234
Interpersonal therapy	234
New forms of therapy	235
CHAPTER 26: NATURAL MEDICINES TO TREAT DEPRESSION	237
Natural medicine versus traditional medicine	237
Plant based natural medicines	
Vitamins and minerals	239
Homeopathic medicines	
Chinese medicine	241
Ayurvedic medicine	242
Other therapies	242
PART 7: DEPRESSION IN SPECIAL GROUPS - CHILDREN	N,
TEENAGERS, THE AGED, A LOVED ONE	
CHAPTER 27: DEPRESSION IN CHILDREN	247
How to help your depressed child	
Bullying	250
CHAPTER 28: TEENAGE DEPRESSION	255
Symptoms of teenage depression	
Teenage depression versus adult depression	
How to help your depressed teenager	
DEPRESSION IN TEENAGERS CAN TURN DANGEROUS	

Self-harm	
Substance induced teenage depression	258
Alcohol and teenage depression	259
Drugs and teenage depression	259
Signs and symptoms of substance abuse in teenagers	260
How to prevent your teenager from turning to substance abuse	261
CHAPTER 29: DEPRESSION IN OLDER PEOPLE	265
Symptoms of depression to be aware of in older people:	
Age brings changes	
How to help a depressed parent, relative or friend	
If you feel unable to care for your depressed parent or relative	267
The difference between depression and dementia	267
The difference between depression and deficitia	207
CHAPTER 20 I WING HUTH A DEPREGRED DARWED	271
CHAPTER 30: LIVING WITH A DEPRESSED PARTNER	
Some suggestions:	
Intimacy and depression	2/3
How to talk to your partner about depression	2/3
DADTO CHICIDE	
PART 8: SUICIDE	
CHAPTER 31: ADULT SUICIDE	
Why people turn to suicide	279
Protecting yourself against suicide	
Once the crisis has passed	
Learn about suicide	
What to do if a friend or relative threatens suicide	
Suicide warning signs	283
CHAPTER 32: TEENAGE SUICIDE	287
Why teenagers are committing this tragic act	287
Some specific indicators of teenage suicide	289
What to do if your teenager appears to be suicidal	290
Treatment after a teenage suicide attempt	291
CHAPTER 33: RECOVERING FROM DEPRESSION	293
How to prevent a relapse	
1 T	
APPENDIX: INTERNET SITES OFFERING ONLINE INFORMATION AN	JD
HELP	
TIEDI	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	200
DIDLIUGKAPHI	299
N ID DV	
INDEX	302

#### INTRODUCTION

Most of us feel sad or miserable from time to time but if a down mood has not lifted for several weeks, then you might be experiencing depression. Assess your mood by answering the following questions:

- Are you finding your life more difficult to manage?
- Have you tried to improve your life but hit a brick wall?
- Has the pleasure gone from things you once enjoyed?
- Do you struggle to concentrate and find you are becoming forgetful?
- Are you having trouble sleeping though you feel tired a lot of the time?
- Do you feel a failure and the future seems to hold no hope?
- Have you withdrawn from your friends and social activities?
- Have you lost your appetite or are you eating more than usual?

If the answer is "yes" to all or most of these questions, you may be depressed, and it's time to do something about it. You are not alone. More people are depressed and struggling to cope than ever. Depression is a serious condition that appears in many different forms and affects each of us differently, but it is highly treatable. Not only can you help yourself by following the recommendations in this book but there is information about medical and natural therapies to turn to for assistance.

To encourage your recovery, this book provides you with the following powerful blend of practical strategies:

 Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) is a highly regarded and fastacting technique used world-wide to improve a depressed mood by changing the way you think and feel about yourself, others and life in general. By using CBT you will learn to become more positive,

- gain self-esteem and develop new and constructive ways of handling situations.
- 2. *Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy (MBCT)* uses some of the skills learned from CBT and combines them with a technique that focuses on awareness of the present moment and viewing life in an objective way. It especially targets the prevention of recurrences of depression.
- 3. *Case histories* about sufferers from various types of depression and their ways of overcoming it, are included throughout the book to make the information about depression more real and understandable.
- **4.** *Healing stories* found after most chapters will provide you with an additional and inspirational approach to assist you in finding helpful answers and making positive changes.
- 5. Medical and natural treatments for depression. Years ago traditional medicine and alternative therapies rarely appeared at the same time, but in this book you'll find them working together holistically to help you.



This book offers self-help for sufferers of various types of depression, but if you feel that your world is collapsing around you or you have thoughts of suicide, self-help is *not* the path to follow at this time. Seek immediate professional help from your doctor, hospital, psychiatrist, psychologist or social worker.

# PART 1

### UNDERSTANDING THE BASICS

## ONE

#### UNDERSTANDING DEPRESSION

#### Sadness and depression are often confused

Depression and sadness are often confused. It is "normal" to be upset or even miserable about a life event that turns out badly, to feel discouraged or to grieve for a loved one. However, when the sadness lingers for long periods and feelings of despair rob the quality of your life, you are depressed. The intense pain of depression not only affects you, but your family and close friends as well. Depression is a real and debilitating disorder that is not due to a weak personality, flaws in your character or lack of willpower.

Depression can strike at any time and people of any age, sex or race can suffer from it. According to the World Health Organisation 350 million people are suffering from depression and it will become "the leading cause of the global burden of disease by 2030". Depression does not have a single cause or show itself in exactly the same way in each person and it can exist independently or together with other illnesses.

#### The signs of depression

The most common signs of depression are found in the following areas of functioning:

#### **Thinking**

Depression promotes negative thoughts and causes you to focus on your guilt, inadequacies, failures and fears. Repetitive, nagging thoughts may make you question your actions and motives, and criticise yourself for

your failures. Your most dangerous thoughts may be of ending your anguish through suicide.

#### **Emotions**

You feel sad and despairing and cry frequently or complain of being numb and empty. Nothing seems pleasurable, and the feelings of love or affection you once had for those close to you seems to have disappeared. Vulnerable and confused, you are afraid of people and things that were not frightening before. The future looks bleak and overwhelming.

#### Energy and motivation

Some days you feel so tired that you have difficulty dragging yourself out of bed. Even the smallest task takes on daunting proportions as your energy deserts you. You have lost interest in doing things you once enjoyed and nothing seems worth the struggle.

#### Movement

Your body and mind feel as if they are in slow motion and you are unable to complete activities that once took you a short time. Some people feel restless and agitated, moving around aimlessly, or attempting several tasks without finishing any of them.

#### Concentration and memory

Concentrating on reading, writing a letter or watching television is a thing of the past. Performing intricate tasks such as sewing, home repairs or following a conversation, is difficult. Your formerly sharp memory may have deteriorated to such an extent that sometimes you can't remember what you did yesterday. Some people are so impaired that they fear the onset of dementia.

#### **Images**

When depressed you may describe the way you feel in terms of darkness, or being stuck. You might talk of being trapped or "the return of the black dog".

#### Physical changes

Depression interferes with your sleeping and eating patterns and you might notice that your sex drive is lower. Poor appetite and weight loss is another characteristic though occasionally depressed people sleep and eat excessively. Muscular aches and pains, headaches and gastro-intestinal problems may bother you. You even look tired and worn out, as if you are carrying the troubles of the world on your shoulders.



Depression can differ in type and intensity and strike in a variety of ways. Though each person experiences depression differently, there are some common signs. The stronger the symptoms are and the longer they have bothered you, the more attention you need to give them.

#### Use of labels

The use of labels and the categorising of symptoms of depression is a clinical approach to the condition, used mainly by professionals working in the field. However, it can be helpful and of value to identify the different types of depression.

#### TYPES OF DEPRESSION

#### Major (Severe) depression

Of all types of depression, major depression is the most intense and disabling. It is characterised by despair and hopelessness so devastating that suicide can be a danger. Major depression can occur suddenly or develop over many months. It may begin at any age, but the average age of onset is the mid-twenties.

Major depression is the most debilitating form of depression. Its despair and hopelessness is so profound that nothing seems of interest or gives you pleasure. Sometimes your fatigue is so overwhelming that you find it impossible to get out of bed. You have no appetite and may

hardly sleep for days. You may experience brooding, negative, guilt-laden thoughts, concerns about your health and feelings of panic. Numbness or hollowness and lack of belonging are common symptoms so devastating, that suicide is a danger.

#### **Symptoms**

To diagnose major depression, psychiatrists will expect the following symptoms to have been present for at least a period of two weeks.

- Constant depressed mood.
- Insomnia.
- Marked loss of interest and pleasure in life.
- Fatigue and energy loss.
- Recurrent thoughts of death and suicide.
- Indecisiveness.
- Feelings of worthlessness and guilt.
- Inability to concentrate.
- Restless agitation or feeling extremely slowed down.

#### Case study

Ken sat tensely, jaw set and eyes glaring. His clothes were crumpled, his face gaunt, eyes lacklustre and his hair a scruffy mess. He looked older than his twenty-three years. Three months earlier he had attempted suicide with an overdose of sleeping tablets but fortunately friends found him in time and he was rushed to hospital, where psychiatrists diagnosed major depression. After spending two months in hospital, his depression was no longer as severe but he continued to have periods of deep gloom.

When Ken visited his general practitioner, Dr Wilson, he refused to return to the city hospital out-patient department. When Dr Wilson suggested he see a local counsellor, he reluctantly agreed. Dr Wilson referred Ken to me.

"I must have had a weak moment when I agreed to see you today. I didn't want to see a counsellor. If you can't help me no one can," he said glumly.

I tried to reassure him but he looked away, speaking slowly, as he stared listlessly at the carpet. "I can't see a way out of this. I don't enjoy anything anymore and I must be lousy company. Even my girlfriend has left me, but who'd blame her, living with such a loser."

He told me how he had battled to cope with his work as a computer programmer. He had become slow and had lost confidence in making the tough decisions. "Worst of all, I couldn't keep my mind on track and I mucked up an important programme a few days before I cracked up." He shook his head and kept his eyes averted.

"When you say you cracked up...what happened?" I asked.

He explained that he was sitting at his desk with his head in his hands. "I sobbed really loudly. The whole office heard me and came running." He smiled cynically. "They stood around my desk, not knowing what to do. Anyway they packed up my stuff and one of the guys drove me home."

He told me how his mother called the doctor and that he was sent to hospital where he saw a psychiatrist who put him on tablets. He hadn't worked since.

"I think of dying a lot these days.... but don't worry I won't try suicide though I'd probably be better off dead."

Depression ran in Ken's family. His grandmother, a first cousin and his sister are all depressives and his brother Eric attempted suicide three years ago.

"I've been running away from the blues all my life and now it's catching up with me. It all seems too hard...I don't know how I'm going to make it through the rest of my life."

#### Mild depression (dysthymia)

Dysthymia is sometimes referred to as mild depression and is less severe than major depression. Diagnosis of dysthymia is often difficult because of the subtle nature of the symptoms. Sufferers might manage to function marginally for about two years and sometimes longer before

the depression is diagnosed. They might even believe that depression is a part of their character and not discuss their symptoms with doctors, family members, or friends. Diagnosis of dysthymia can be difficult if it occurs at the same time as other psychological disorders, which adds a level of complexity in determining its presence. If left untreated it may develop into severe depression.

#### Case study

Karen buried her face in her hands and sobbed. "Justin left me last week. After seven years of marriage, he packed his things and walked out, without a word or thought for me or the kids. I haven't had the courage to tell them yet. They adore their dad, so I don't know what I'll say to them." She wiped away her tears with a crumpled tissue. "I've seen this coming. Things haven't been that good between us. We've hardly said a word to each other lately and I've had a feeling that he was seeing someone else though he denied it."

She needed to talk so I didn't interrupt her.

"About two and a half years ago I started to feel really tired and down... an empty kind of hopelessness. I thought I had a virus, but the doctors couldn't find anything. At work my confidence dried up and I couldn't concentrate. I struggled to decide the simplest things, even like what clothes to wear in the morning. No wonder I lost my job."

She ran her hands through her hair. "Look at me, I'm a total mess. Who could blame him for turning away from me? He's had a lot to put up with." She continued, "Now that he's gone, it's like a movie in my head... my mind goes over and over the hurt."

"Are you managing to sleep?" I asked.

"I don't sleep for more than two hours a night...and I've started smoking again."

"And your appetite?"

"The sight of food makes me feel sick but I'm forcing myself to eat. I've got to keep going for the children."

#### Endogenous and reactive depression

*Endogenous depression* occurs without obvious cause and is considered to be mainly of chemical or biological origin and often runs in families. The symptoms of endogenous depression are similar to those of major or severe depression and suicide can be a danger.

**Reactive depression** occurs when sadness due to disappointment, emotional distress or loss becomes prolonged and intense, as in bereavement, extensive financial loss, the ending of a relationship or a ruined career. Reactive depression can result in hopelessness, anxiety, irritability, anger and a preoccupation with upsetting thoughts, but with time and support these symptoms usually disappear.

These two labels to describe depression are often used for convenience.

#### A daily mood chart

Recording your mood is an excellent way of monitoring your progress. It is so easy to forget small changes in mood from week to week. Making a mark once or twice a day on a sheet you've printed out, allows you to monitor not only your mood but your hours of sleep, any events that triggered a change in the way you feel and your current medication. You can add in anything relevant that may have affected your mood such as alcohol, illicit drugs, pain or anxiety. This record allows you to monitor your own moods correctly and it also a helpful document to show your doctor or therapist.

Keeping a mood chart until you feel entirely well, allows you to not only to appreciate your progress but to understand many factors like triggers to your depression, how your depression manifested itself and the medications you took and their effect.

#### How to fill in the mood chart

The top line reflects the days in a two week period (14). Down the left side is a 1 to 10 rating that will denote your mood for the day. If you wish you can add in a second set of ratings to measure your mood twice that day. Once the two week period has been completed you can connect the dots marked on the page and you will have a mood graph.

#### DAILY MOOD CHART (TWO WEEKS)

Days in two week the month	s of	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
GOOD DAY	10														
	9														
Rate each day with 10 being	8														
a good day and	7														
1 being a poor	6														
day.	5														
	4														
	3														
	2														
POOR DAY	1														
Sleep – number of hours per day.															
Depression triggers															
Medication															
Any other information or positive/ negative events															
Emotions															
Pain															

#### The line between anxiety and depression

Over recent years, researchers have come to the conclusion that people who are vulnerable to anxiety can be equally vulnerable to depression and that symptoms of anxiety and depression often overlap. Though depression is usually a state of minimal energy and anxiety is an elevated energy state, the two can exist simultaneously.

Anxiety and depression are in essence, very different. Depression makes you feel despairing and you may struggle to cope with your daily life. Anxiety or even fear in the face of danger is a normal reaction that prepares you to fight or to run.

With the "fight or flight response" adrenalin surges through your system. It is accompanied by fast breathing and heart rate increasing the oxygen levels in your bloodstream. Blood shifts to the muscles to enable you to act.

If you're anxious you may feel a constant nagging uncertainty or apprehension. Similar feelings may develop in a state of panic without you being aware of a recognisable trigger. The intense form of anxiety suffered by many people is far greater than the usual range of anxiety or stress we all know; such as the anxiety felt before an exam or when tackling a difficult task. This anxiety is intense and debilitating.

Just imagine being depressed but at the same time, feeling wound up and wringing your hands. You can't concentrate or do anything worthwhile to resolve whatever is worrying you. Feeling powerless to help yourself makes you more anxious. It follows, that your inability to do anything to help yourself also increases your depression.

Fortunately new medications prescribed by doctors can often relieve both symptoms. However, psychological help in addition to medication can usually be of further assistance.

#### This book is for you if you feel:

- your life is out of control.
- defeated and hopeless about the future.
- things that once gave you pleasure are no longer of interest.
- tired all the time.
- unable to motivate yourself.

You can find light at the end of the tunnel and beat depression. Joan Zawatzky shares the knowledge she has gained from many years of counselling depressed people. She provides you with the help you have been searching for in this unique combination of practical, tried and tested therapeutic solutions.

#### There are four approaches to help you:

- Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) that breaks down your negative, selfdestructive thinking and helps you to rebuild your life.
- Mindfulness Based Cognitive Therapy (MBCT) that continues the good work of CBT with meditation, awareness and acceptance of your thoughts.
- Healing tales that will inspire you and bring hope and motivation into your life.
- Case histories and explanations of the forms of depression, its causes, symptoms as well as the most current treatments available – both medical and natural.

#### If one method doesn't help you, another will.

In addition, Joan Zawatzky offers you methods of understanding and supporting a depressed teenager, assistance with a partner or an older family member who is depressed. She deals with the important areas of turning aggression into assertiveness, improving low self-esteem, encouraging low motivation and keeping your body in tune. The important topics of bullying, preventing suicide in teenagers and adults, substance abuse and seeking professional advice are also covered in the book.

Joan Zawatzky brings her many years of experience in counselling depressed clients to this revised edition. Her special interest is research into advances in the understanding of depression. She writes directly and compassionately, offering practical support to sufferers of depression and their loved ones. Her approach is

broad and balanced and aims to help the total person. She is also the author of *The Scent of Oranges, The Elephant's Footprint* and *The Third Generation*.

9|| 780 987|| 330239||